KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY,

KUMASI

COLLEGE OF SCIENCE

FACULTY OF BIOSCIENCES

DEPARTMENT OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

EXPOSURE AND RISK ASSESSMENT OF AFLATOXIN INGESTED

CEREALS AND GRAINS BY UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

MASTER OF FOOD QUALITY MANAGEMENT

BY

TETTEH LUKE PAA MENSAH

KAP.

(BSc. CHEMISTRY)

ANE

NOVEMBER, 2018

EXPOSURE AND RISK ASSESSMENT OF CEREALS AND GRAINS BY

UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF

MASTER OF FOOD QUALITY MANAGEMENT IN FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (MSC. FOOD QUALITY MANAGEMENT)

BY

TETTEH LUKE PAA MENSAH

(BSc. CHEMISTRY)

NOVEMBER, 2018

BADW

W J SANE

DECLARATION

I declare that this project report is an authentic record of my own work carried out under the supervision of Dr. Isaac W. Ofosu and that except portions where references have been duly cited, this project is the outcome of my research.

K	NUS	
TETTEH LUKE PAA MENSAH		
PG1050117	Signature	Date
Supervisor.	K M	
Dr. ISAAC W. OFOSU		
	Signature	Date
Dr. (MRS.) FAUSTINA DUFIE WIREK	CO-MANU	
Certified by Head of Department	Signature	Date
7000	S 3 25	2

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to God almighty whose abundant grace has seen me through my one-year degree program safely. Also, to my parents Mr. and Mrs. Simon Kofi Ohene, my siblings and finally my grandmother Nana Adowa Duku for their prayers, guidance and sacrifices they made for me towards my education. BADH W J SANE

NO

KNUST

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Had it not been for your time, patience and advice, this work would not have been a success. I say a big thanks to my supervisor Dr. Isaac W. Ofosu and all the lecturers and staff of the Department of Food Science and Technology for their individual roles they play to making this work a success. Secondly, a heart full of thanks goes to my course mates for the support and encouragement offered me throughout my studies. Special thanks also go to my father and mother for all the support.

Thank you all and I wish the blessings and grace of God fall on you abundantly.

KNUST

ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to assess the exposure and health risks associated with the consumption of kenkey by students of KNUST. Students completed a food dietary questionnaire to gather their exposure frequency and amount of kenkey eaten. Kenkey samples were collected from various students' food joints and homogenized. Sirhan method of extraction and purification was used to extract the aflatoxin from the kenkey. HPLC was used to determine the concentrations of each group of aflatoxin. The probabilistic approach was used to model the chronic exposures using the Monte Carlo simulation of the Palisade @Risk software. The mean concentration of aflatoxin was 4.78 ng/g. Probabilistic approach was used to estimate the chronic daily exposure. The chronic exposures ranged between 0.024-1.09 ng/g bw/day. The chronic exposure and reference dose of aflatoxin were used to estimate the hazard quotient. The hazard quotient was below the tolerable limit (1). The chronic exposure for both carcinogen and noncarcinogen groups of aflatoxins were also estimated of exposure. There was a significant health concern as the margin

of exposure (792.06) for the carcinogen group was below the threshold level (10,000). Aflatoxin contamination must be given a serious attention and effective measures must be in place to curb the contamination of aflatoxin.

KNUST



DECLARATION	
DEDICATION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
ABSTRACT iv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
CHAPTER ONE	
1.0 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background	
1.2 Problem Statement and Justification	
1.3 Main Objective	
CHAPTER TWO	
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Aflatoxin	
2.2 Types of aflatoxin4	
2.3 Aflatoxin contamination and food quality5	
2.4 Impact on nutrition, health and environment6	

2.5 Childhood aflatoxin exposure patterns in West Africa	6
2.6 Risk analysis	7
2.6.1 Hazard identification	8
2.6.2 Exposure assessment	9
2.6.3 Acute exposure to aflatoxin	10
2.6.4 Chronic exposure to aflatoxin	11
2.7 Risk Characterization	11
2.8 Challenges affecting estimation of aflatoxin exposure	12
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	14
3.1 Materials	14
3.1.1 Study area	14
3.1.2 Survey	14
3.1.3 Questionnaire and food consumption data framework	14
3.2 Methods	15
3.2.1 Sampling of foods	15
3.2.2 Food groups sampling and sample preparation	15
3.2.3 Extraction and clean-up	15
3.2.3 HPLC analysis	16
3.2.4 Aflatoxin calculation	16
3.2.5 Analysis of data and Risk characterization	16
CHAPTER FOUR	19
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	19
4.1 Occurrence, consumption and exposure assessment	19
Table 1: Statistical distributions of aflatoxin exposure in students	19
4.3 Risk Characterization	19
4.3.1 Margin of Exposure	19
Table 2: Margin of Exposure for both Carcinogen and Non-carcinogen group	20
4.3.2 Hazard Quotient	21
Table 3. Hazard Quotient for Non-carcinogen group	21
4.3.3 Lifetime Risk	22
Table 4: Life time risk for carcinogen group	22
CHAPTER FIVE	23

5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	23
REFERENCES	23
APPENDIX	30
APPENDIX 1: FOOD DIETARY QUESTIONNAIRES	

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1: Statistical distributions of aflatoxin exposure in students 2	0
Table 2: Margin of Exposure for both Carcinogen and Non-carcinogen group 2	1
Table 3. Hazard Quotient for Non-carcinogen group 2	2
Table 4: Life time risk for carcinogen group 2	3





CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Aflatoxins are mycotoxins primarily produced by *Aspergillus nomius, Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus*. They are known to be acutely toxic, mutagenic, carcinogenic, teratogenic and immunosuppressive (Wild and Gong, 2009) and classified as G1, G2, B1 and B2 based on their chemical structures. Aflatoxins are found in most staple foods in their raw forms such as maize (Murphy *et al.*, 2006). Previous reports in several studies have reported the occurrence of aflatoxins in foods from the Ghanaian market (Khlangwiset *et al.*, 2011). Out of the eighteen known aflatoxins (AF), just AFG1 AFG2, AFB1 and AFB2 are reported in agricultural food crops (Riba *et al.*, 2010). Aflatoxin B1 is the only metabolite among the four known groups that is very carcinogenic (Assunção *et al.*, 2018). The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IRAC) reported Aflatoxin B1 is a hepato carcinogen when hazard is chronically exposed and causes acute hepatitis and can end up causing cancer of the liver (IARC, 2002 and IARC, 2012). According to Assunção *et al.* (2018) aflatoxin B1 have been grouped as class 1 potential carcinogen to humans.

Kenkey, which is a cereal-based food, prepared from maize, is consumed by most Ghanaians and several studies have reported the occurrence of aflatoxin in kenkey (Shephard, 2003). According to Assunção *et al.* (2018), cereal-based foods is one of the commonest means to human exposure to aflatoxin and other mycotoxins. Previous studies have shown that approximately 25% of cereals produced globally are contaminated by mycotoxins (FAO/WHO, 2002). Aflatoxin in maize is mostly produced as a result of poor handling of maize in the supply chain including storage. If the moisture exceeds 12% and humidity is not right, stored maize is prone to be contaminated with aflatoxin.

To be able to estimate the exposure and risk of aflatoxin in kenkey, several methodologies such as dietary recall, and dietary history or food-frequency methods are used. Assuming that the consumption of kenkey is considered as chronic daily intake, dietary recall should be appropriate as it could be expedient to recollect the exact food intake measurements (Cano-Sancho et al., 2013). In order to make an accurate judgment on the risk that aflatoxin in kenkey poses, it is imperative to take into consideration all aspects risk indices. Risk characterization estimates the severity of an identified hazard and the probable adverse health effects of the hazard (CanoSancho et al., 2013). At the present time, the contamination cereal-based foods by aflatoxin needs a close attention, specifically because of the adverse health effects as a result of mycotoxins exposure could lead to diverse toxicity and carcinogenicity (Speijers et al., 2004). Previous studies only focused on the occurrence of aflatoxin and not much on exposure and risk assessment especially in Ghana (Assunção et al., 2015). The chemical compositions and knowledge of the toxicities of aflatoxin has been used to envisage the toxicity and risk it presents. For example, in order to quantify the risk associated with aflatoxin exposure, hazard quotient is used, and it is expressed as the ratio of the chronic human exposures to the reference dose of aflatoxin. On the other hand, margin of exposure (MOE), which is defined as the ratio of bench mark dose lower limit (BMDL₁₀) to estimated exposure of a hazard. According to Syberg et al. (2008) these procedures of risk assessment are based on the theories of Independent Action (IA) and Concentration Addition (CA). According to Assunção *et al.* (2016), MOE is aimed at both carcinogenic and genotoxic risk assessment and is mostly used for the cumulative risk assessment. Lifetime risk is another way to estimate risk of a hazard. It is multiplication of the potency factor and chronic daily intake that are exposed to the population. The slope factor (also known as the potency factor) which is the risk produced by a lifetime average dose of 1 mg/kgday is mostly originated from certified studies. Very few studies have been conducted on the exposure and risk assessment exist on cereal-based products such as kenkey Murphy *et al.*, 2006). The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) instituted a minimum limit of 5 μ g/kg for total aflatoxin in cereals (van Egmond *et al.*, 2007). The objective of this study was to estimate the exposure and risk associated with aflatoxin exposure through the consumption of kenkey.

1.2 Problem Statement and Justification

As a result of the high standard of living on university campuses in Ghana, many students resort to consuming cheaper food alternatives such as cereal-based (kenkey). However, there have been documented evidence of poor handing of cereals on the market especially if the grains are not sourced from certified maize grits producers (Shephard, 2003). Thus, it can be assumed that consumers of these cereal-based foods are at risk of adverse health effects that result from aflatoxin known to be present in the poorly handled grains as a result of the growth of *Aspergillus flavus*. Therefore, there is the need to quantify the exposure and determine if the concentrations of aflatoxins in kenkey consumed by many students on KNUST campus are enough to pose a significant health concern or risks such as cancers or any related toxicities. Since reports from the KNUST Hospital indicates increasing number of students who are treated of Hepatitis B.

1.3 Main Objective

To estimate the dietary exposure and health risks associated with the consumption of kenkey.

NO BADH

WJ SANE

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Aflatoxin

Aflatoxins are mycotoxins, which can be carcinogenic and are produced by some *Aspergillus* species in a huge variety of agricultural commodities, typically *Aspergillus flavus* in maize and peanuts. Aflatoxin B₁ became initial known within the UK in 1960 in an exceeding payload of peanuts from Brazil. Turner *et al.* (2007) discovered that aflatoxin B1 caused the outbreaks of acute liver disease in animals and humans leading to carcinoma and the associated diseases. According to Wagacha *et al.* (2008), the risks of foodstuffs contaminated with aflatoxin at levels higher than tolerable limit were once more demonstrated in 2004 in the Republic of Kenya where a hundred and twenty-five individuals died following the consummation of locally-cultivated maize containing high levels of aflatoxin.

2.2 Types of aflatoxin

Hundreds of fungal species produce over 300 known mycotoxins which might be a threat to the health of humans. Aflatoxin is naturally present mycotoxins made by three fungus species: *Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus paraciticus* and *Aspergillus nominus*. The most commonly found is *Aspergillus flavus*. They primarily found in soil decaying vegetation. The main reported groups of aflatoxin are B₁, B₂, G₁ and G₂, and two sub-major ones, M₁ and M₂ normally found in milk products. Aflatoxin B1 is the commonest member of this family of mycotoxins and has very high carcinogen potency. It is possible that cereals contaminated by aflatoxin may not include aflatoxin B₂, G₁ and G₂ but aflatoxin B₁ is always present (Creppy, 2002).

Goto *et al.* (1996) revealed the probability of more fungi species included to the existing fungi as a result of their growth. New strains of *Aspergillus* sp. such as *Aspergillus ochraceoroseus* and *Aspergillus tamarii* extracted from the Tai rainforest and sclerotium growth respectively, has been stated to produce aflatoxins (Goto *et al.*, 1996). However, there have not been any documentations on the aflatoxin produced by other *Penicillia, Aspergilli* and other species of

Rhizopus. Just as amongst the aflatoxin producer's species, *Aspergillus flavus* simply yields the group B, whereas *Aspergillus parasiticus* and *Aspergillus nomius* from G group produces a more complex toxic forms of aflatoxins with an oxidative ring. Generally, aflatoxin B1 is considered the commonest with both chronic and acute chronic toxicity which is mostly toxic.

Even though aflatoxins, are produced from a little fraction of mold species of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus*, they are extremely prevalent within subtropics as well as tropics where is marked consumption of staple food commodities (Liu and Wu, 2010).

With favorable conditions such as surfaces of plants like maize and peanuts, of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus* spores is capable of growing. The mycelium is capable of setting up an endotrophic connection that does not cause any harm to the vigorous plant. During the time that the plant is stressed, of which the normal stress period is drought, then an appreciable level of aflatoxin is likely be developed or produced in the tissue of the plant for the growth period on the farm. With these situations, there could be contamination of farm produce before harvest (Hill *et al.*, 1985). Even though intensities are by no means higher as compared those developed in farm produce that are stored, by which from economical point of view is very significant.

2.3 Aflatoxin contamination and food quality

Agricultural produce is often contaminated by aflatoxin throughout production, storage, process and transit once the humidity and temperature states are appropriate. Mold growth and aflatoxin development are favoured by poor storage conditions and factors such as temperature and humidity (Hell *et al.*, 2000). Aflatoxin content in ng/g of a product can show a sign of product quality decline. As a result, the market value is affected.

2.4 Impact on nutrition, health and environment

Shephard (2003) revealed that aflatoxin is amongst the most food contaminants with severe adverse health effects, food and nutritional security and economic losses. Cereals and grains contaminated with aflatoxin could lead to lethal aflatoxicosis and chronic mutagenic and carcinogenic effects with long dormancy periods. Aflatoxin is related to exacerbation of the protein deficiency disease syndrome kwashiorkor in children. Assessing the human health effects of aflatoxin in terms of primary cancer of the liver needs information on human exposure to aflatoxins. In developing countries, people do not seem to be solely malnourished but are also endangered inveterately to high levels of aflatoxin in the diet of individuals (Cardwell, 2004). The health risk decreases labour productivity, whereas increasing health cost and overall income losses because of the chance cost coupled to lost days of work (Asenso-Okyere et al, 2011). Signs of acute aflatoxicosis involve hemorrhagic necrosis of the liver, epithelial duct proliferation, oedema, and lethargy (Yaman et al., 2016). According to Gong et al. (2004), aflatoxins are evidenced carcinogens, immunotoxins and causes retardation of growth and implicated within the stunning NO of children. SANE

2.5 Childhood aflatoxin exposure patterns in West Africa

Aflatoxin exposure has been tough to characterize (Piekkola *et al.*, 2012). The inability to accurately measure individual exposure has successively held back efforts to better understand

aflatoxin health effects. Overcoming the difficulties inherent to those forms of assessment has been the thrust for the development of aflatoxin exposure biomarkers (Kensler *et al.*, 1999; Wild and Turner, 2002). Bio-activation is needed in order for aflatoxin to be reactive. Due to that 8, 9epoxide exert their carcinogenic harmful effects as the metabolic activation enzymes is found in humans (Mannaa *et al.*, 2014). Once activated to the epoxide, aflatoxin can bind to and cause damage to cellular targets like DNA and proteins. According to Wild and Turner (2002), aflatoxin binds covalently to albumin and this Aflatoxin-albumin (AF-alb) adduct are often measured in the peripheral blood as a helpful biomarker of exposure over the 30-60 days before sampling. However, this means of aflatoxin exposure assessment is limited in most African countries.

The exposure pattern among infant is quite dynamic as a result of the fact that children at the start are breastfed and gradually introduced to cereal-based porridge. The period of introducing cerealbased porridge increases the level of aflatoxin exposure. According to Gong *et al.* (2004), the general pattern as substitution foods slowly replace breast milk increases aflatoxin exposure markedly. El–Serag and Rudolph (2007) found out that aflatoxins have long been investigated on the aetiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC), and very little attention paid to the potential adverse health effects due to unavailability of substantial exposure and risk information.

2.6 Risk analysis

Improvements in mycotoxins detection and also the implication for health, trade and food convenience led to the development of risk analysis methodology that needs additional elaborated data on mycotoxin action and interaction. Risk analysis strengthens the flexibility of tradition food safety system by providing a guideline to practically manage, assess and communicate risks operational with numerous beneficiaries permitting effective decisionmaking. This approach will increase the flexibility to identify hazards food by safety regulators, characterize them, assess exposure, and estimate the probability of the resulting risk to the potential impact on human health.

2.7.1 Risk assessment

Food risk assessment includes the method of detecting, studying and characterizing a foodrelated health risk (Spink *et al.*, 2011). Risk assessment estimates the probability and severity of an adverse health effect occurring from exposure to a hazard. It is used to study contaminants or any other substance that are deliberately added to food or naturally-occurring toxins in foods such as pathogenic microorganisms, food preservative and aflatoxins (Moss, 2002). According to WHO (2015), risk assessment is made of three main processes namely hazard identification, hazard characterization and risk assessment.

Assessing food risk is very important as the outcomes of the assessment play a vital role in policy making for the food consumers and also for food safety and security reasons. A representative exposure observation must be achieved in order to achieve an accurate risk assessment (FAO/WHO, 2015).

2.6.1 Hazard identification

Hazard identification mostly concentrates on hazards likely to be found in a certain food and to cause foodborne illness. The causal relationship between the hazard, sickness and a food as one vector of a particular sickness are identified during hazard identification (Hedberg *et al.*, 2006). Wild and Turner (202) established that the people in West Africa are exposed to aflatoxin at the early stage of their lives. El–Serag *et al.* (2007) found out that aflatoxins have long been investigated on the aetiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC), and very little attention paid to

the potential adverse health effects due to unavailability of substantial exposure and risk information.

2.6.2 Exposure assessment

Food dietary exposure assessment is the method of quantifying how much of hazard or food chemical that has been consumed by a population or a selected group of people for certain or definite time period. It is expressed as mass per time unit (mg/kgBw-day). Food exposure assessment must be the actual food intake pattern of the selected populace (Marin *et al.*, 2013).

Dietary exposure to food hazards is estimated by the combination food consumption data with food hazard concentration data. According to Biro *et al.* (2002) food consumption is an estimate of the daily average per capita amount of a food or group of foods consumed by a given population and is employed for estimating long term-hazards. Different population groups depict variable food consumption patterns therefore completely different consumption data are needed for assessing dietary exposure to food chemicals.

The prospective methods (dietary records and dietary recall techniques) which record data at the time of eating and the retrospective methods (diet history and food frequency questionnaire) which use data about the food eaten over a specified duration of time are the two main methods to estimate and assess for food consumption (Merten *et al.*, 2011).

According to Dougherty *et al.* (2000), identification of potential pathways, identification of potentially exposed populace and estimation of exposed populace, estimation of the severity, duration and time-pattern and frequency must be considered during dietary exposure assessment. African countries that are exposed to aflatoxin could be determined by a single-point using the mean levels because both food consumption and contamination levels are a function of it (Shephard, 2008). Excessive exposures are as

a result of excessive consumption of contaminated foods or excessive contamination levels of foods that are consumed in moderate quantities. Most people in developing countries consume the staple foods in excessive quantities that are highly contaminated at levels beyond the tolerable level (Shephard, 2008). Aflatoxins exposure and risk assessment data set for most developing countries information is not available (Wilkinson *et al.*, 2000). Evidently, it is imperative that one must have a full data on consumption of staple foods in communities in order to fully estimate the risk associated with a staple food. Studies have shown that most human populace is opened to dietary consumption of aflatoxin that differs significantly from one fraction of the world to another and among societal classes (Doll *et al.*, 1981).

Most staple foods such as maize consumed by the people in the developing countries are mostly foods that have been cultivated by indigenous farmers or families, put in storage, sold and cooked with little or no concern for the threats of aflatoxin. For economic benefits, the minimum contaminated produce is exported (Otsuki *et al.*, 2001). This undoubtedly increases the level of exposure of aflatoxin to the people as the highly contaminated cereals and grains are left in the country for the consumption by the populace. Though aflatoxin detection of in most foods suggests the probability of exposure, it is difficult to measure the dietary consumption as no farreaching data set is available to estimate the level and severity of exposure and risk of individuals in low-income countries of which Ghana is part (Chen *et al.*, 2012; Wu *et al.*, 2004).

2.6.3 Acute exposure to aflatoxin

According to Bankole *et al.* (2006) mortality percentage of 25% of acute poisonings occurs due to high exposure levels. Scientific journals in the mid-1990s reported of this nature, however succeeding reports are sometimes found mainly trendy by the electronic media. Death information and severe illness are most at times recorded in the advancing countries inside the risk zone.

Reported situations of acute poisoning don't seem to be massive relative to the population in danger, most likely as a result of individuals sometimes avoid foods that are evidently moldy, and individuals are at times tolerant to aflatoxin (Kimanya *et al.*, 2014). Conversely, during times of insufficiency of food, or in circumstances of poverty individuals normally don't have any choice but to use cheaper, inferior-quality food, which ordinarily is unclean (Bankole *et al.*, 2006).

2.6.4 Chronic exposure to aflatoxin

Chronic exposure of aflatoxin in humans is estimated in two key methods (Wagacha *et al.*, 2008). The first approach involves food samples. Samples of food are gathered either from ready foods and food ingredients or in markets is the utmost frequently accessed information. The highly dependable source of sample for exposure estimation is by way of analysis of cooked dishes. Then again, samples from the market offers data by exposure risk as of varied meals, notably when native food manufacturers carry out set-ups like milling with no Standard Operation Procedures any quality assurance or control. The next method comprises the use of biological markers of exposure. In this method, urine, blood, or milk samples are gotten from individuals and probed for any aflatoxin derivatives that may be present, every of that holds incorporates a distinctive half-life within the body (Landrigan *et al.*, 2005; Osei-Tutu and Anto, 2016). The technology is comparatively modern, and findings centered on it are physically limited to a little low portion of advancing countries (Jemal *et al.*, 2010).

2.7 Risk Characterization

Risk characterization is the quantitative or qualitative estimation of the adverse effects associated with the hazard that may be present or found in food (Hedberg *et al.*, 2006). A dose-response assessment is conducted for the hazard to characterize the hazard (Choy *et al.*, 1993). As a result of the combined effects of aflatoxins and hepatitis B virus in inducing Hepatocellular carcinoma

BAD

(HCC), the evaluation is individually conducted for inhabitants with and without chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Many epidemiologic studies ascertain aflatoxin as a carcinogen (Groopman *et al.*, 1985; Qian *et al.*, 1994).

The final risk characterization step involves comparison of the TMDI or EDI with the healthbased toxicological value i.e. or Cancer Benchmark Concentration (CBC), ADI or ARfD in the case of chronic exposure, acute exposure or cancer risk respectively. Hazard Index (HI) concept of quantifying the ratio of the exposure to the health-based toxicological value (otherwise known as hazard quotient) has repeatedly been used in other research works for the characterization of risk (Chun and Kang, 2003; Peduzzi *et al.*, 2009; Akoto *et al.*, 2015).

The tolerable levels are established for both total aflatoxin and AFB1 as low as fairly moderately possible (EFSA, 2013). Sorting or different physical treatments enable the reduction of the aflatoxin of cereals and grains such as maize. To minimize the consequences on trade, higher aflatoxin contents are allowed for the products that do not seem to be consumed by humans or that are constituent in foods. However, most low-come countries do not adhere to this protocol as they consume higher aflatoxin cereals and grain and as a result, exceed the maximum exposure limit (Williams *et al.*, 2004).

2.8 Challenges affecting estimation of aflatoxin exposure

Since mycotoxins are natural contaminant that is notably tough for risk assessors, as they sometimes are considered inevitable and thus should be regulated otherwise than artificial chemicals that are considered avertable (Van Egmond *et al.*, 2002). In developing countries, most local food industries are not regulated by quality-control measures due to the limited sources of food and the and under equipped laboratory food institutions (Chen *et al.*, 2012). As a result of this, the tolerable limit of aflatoxin permissible in foods by *Codex Alimentarius* is of no

significance to most developing countries. Though aflatoxin detection of in most foods suggests the probability of exposure, it is difficult to measure the dietary consumption as no data set is available to estimate the level and severity of exposure and risk of individuals in low-income countries such as Ghana (Wu *et al.*, 2004). For the developed countries, due to their strong food quality-control measures, data set for exposure and risk to aflatoxin exist just for most countries. Few challenges exist in getting chronological estimations of exposure and risk assessment of aflatoxin (Wu *et al.*, 2004). Evidently, it is imperative that one must have a full data on consumption of staple foods in communities in order to fully estimate the risk associated with a staple food. Studies have shown that most people are exposed to dietary consumption of aflatoxin that differs significantly (Doll *et al.*, 1981). Despite, having an extensive and precise estimates of aflatoxin exposure, risk assessment is however, a problem (Wu, 2004). With these gaps being the motivation for this study, this study seeks to estimate the exposure and risk assessment of aflatoxin through the consumption of kenkey. Observations from this study could be a landmark for food regulators in Ghana in for monitoring and regulating aflatoxin in foods for the general public.



CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Study area

The study area was Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST), in the Kumasi metropolis, Ashanti Region. It is surrounded by communities such as Bomso, Kotei, Ayigya, Deduako and Ayeduase.

3.1.2 Survey

Skilled field assistants were employed and trained to help in the collection of the data and the administration of the questionnaires. These include how to serve the respondent with the questionnaire and the human relationship. English language was used throughout as means of directive during the administration of the questionnaire since the KNUST students were the target respondents. The 300 respondents were randomly selected with an absolute willingness to provide the information needed to complete the survey.

3.1.3 Questionnaire and food consumption data framework

A food dietary questionnaire (Appendix 1) was used to collect dietary history from the students. The structure of questionnaire was made to provide biodata of respondents; weight, age and religion, weight of kenkey eaten at a sitting: the quantity of kenkey consumed at a sitting, the number of times that they consume kenkey in a week and the number of years that they have been consuming kenkey. The amount of kenkey bought was also included in the questionnaire.

The data from the completed questionnaires were captured on Microsoft excel spreadsheet 2016 version and processed.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Sampling of foods

Food samples from the KNUST hall of residents, Bomso, Kotei, Ayigya, Deduako and Ayeduase in the Kumasi Metropolis were bought from the food joints for the analysis. A total of 100 food samples were bought. The food samples were bought during the time of day where the food was ready to be sold to students.

3.2.2 Food groups sampling and sample preparation

The most consumed foods were sampled randomly. Quantified amount of water was homogenized quantitatively with the sampled foods in a Crompton blender (cq Sierra 500, India) and Ziploc bags used to bag them and stored further analysis at -2°C.

3.2.3 Extraction and clean-up

Aflatoxin extraction from the kenkey was done using the method described by Sirhan *et al.* (2014). Samples were milled and homogenized in Preethi mixer grinder (mg 139, India). In the extraction process, an amount of 2 g of homogenized kenkey was weighed was into a 15 mL centrifuge tube, 5 mL of distilled was added and the tube vortex for 1 min. The solution was allowed to stand for 5 min. A volume of 5 mL 1% (v/v) acetic acid in acetronitrile solution was added. The resultant mixture was vortexed using Genie vortex (si-p238, USA) for 3 min. A mass of 1.32 g of anhydrous MgSO₄ and 0.2 g of NaCl were added to the mixture and the vortexed for 1 min. The tube was centrifuged for 5 min at 4000 rmp and the upper organic layer filtered through a 0.45 μ m nylon syringe prior to injection. A volume of 50 μ L of the filtered extract was injected into the HPLC.

3.2.3 HPLC analysis

HPLC determination was done based on AOAC Official Method 2005.08 (AOAC, 2005) A Cecil-Adept Binary Pump HPLC (ce 4100, UK) coupled with Shimadzu 10AxL fluorescence detector (Ex: 360 nm, Em: 440 nm) with YMC C18 Column (150 x 4.60 mm, 5 μ m). The mobile phase used was methanol: water (40:60, v/v) at a flow rate of 1 mL/min with column temperature maintained at 40 °C. To 1 liter of mobile phase were added 119 mg of potassium bromide and 350 μ L of 4 M nitric acid (required for post column electrochemical derivatization with Kobra Cell, R-Biopharm Rhone). Aflatoxin Mix (G1, G2, B1, B2) standards (ng/g) were prepared from Romer Labs[®] aflatoxin standard of 5.02 ng/ μ L in acetronitrile. Aflatoxins in samples were detected by using the retentions of the standard solution run and quantification done using the calibration curves of each respective toxin. Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantification of total aflatoxin were established on 0.5 ng/g and 1 ng/g respectively.

3.2.4 Aflatoxin calculation

$$A f latoxin\left(\frac{ng}{g}\right) = A\left(\frac{t}{l}\right) x\left(\frac{1}{W}\right)$$

(1)

Where A = ng of aflatoxin as eluate injected, t = final test solution eluate volume (μ L),

I = volume eluate injected into LC (μ L), W = mass (g) of commodity represented by final extract.

3.2.5 Analysis of data and Risk characterization

The datasets for the variables in Equation 2; contact rate (CR), weight (BW), exposure frequency (EF) and exposure duration (ED), were entered into Microsoft excel. They were initially fitted to their distributions based on the Akaike information criterion (AIC). The variables were then

integrated in Equation 2 to calculate the chronic daily intake (CDI) using an averaging time (AT) of 70 years since AFB1 is a carcinogen, and iterating at 100,000.

$$CDI = \frac{C_L \times C_R \times EF \times ED}{B_W \times AT}.$$
(2)

The margin of exposure (MOE), which is the ratio of the bench mark dose lower limit (BMDL₁₀) to the estimated exposure of aflatoxin was similarly estimated using Equation 3. A benchmark dose lower limit (BMDL₁₀) of 870 ng/kg bw/day reported by Cano-Sancho *et al.* (2013) was used for aflatoxins B1, B2, G1, G2...

$$MOE = \frac{BMDL_{10}}{CDI}.$$
(3)

The hazard quotient (HQ) which is expressed as the ratio of the chronic human exposures to the reference dose of aflatoxin. The HQ was (non-carcinogens, AFG1, AFG2 and AFB2) estimated similarly based on Equation 4 using a reference dose (R_fD) of 5 ng/g (Kimanya *et al.*, 2014).

$$HQ = \frac{CDI}{RfD}$$

The lifetime risk of cancer (R) (determined for AFB1) which is the product of the potency factor (PF) and human exposures of hazards (CDI) was estimated using Equation 5 based on a potency factor of 0.013 (ng/g day)⁻¹ recommended by JECFA (1998).

$$R = CDI \times PF.$$
 (5)

(4)



CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Occurrence, consumption and exposure assessment

All the foods analyzed were found to contain aflatoxin (Table 1). Similar results reported by Andrade and Caldas (2015) who recorded 54.2% of the maize samples analyzed as contaminated with aflatoxin. The variation could be due to poor post-harvest handling of raw materials sourced to prepare to kenkey in this study.

Horond (ng/g)	Statistical distribution	Central tendencies metrics				Percentiles		
nazaru (lig/g)	Statistical distribution		Max	Mean	Mode	Median	5th	95th
G2	Expon (0.32595, -0.0032595)	0.00	9.96	0.32	0.00	0.22	0.02	0.97
G1	Expon (1.7283, (-0.017283)	0.00	27.86	1.73	0.00	1.18	0.07	5.16
B2	Expon (2.4690, (-0.024690)		14.21	2.47	0.00	1.69	0.10	7.37
B1	InvGauss (14.848,0.62200, -0.18480)	0.00	124.08	14.66	0.02	3.02	0.00	56.81
Mass of food (g)) NegBin (40,0.10060)		510	358	410	330	265	461
EF (days)	IntUniform (30,356)		356	218	300	230	46	340
ED (years) Binomial (6,0.38611)		1	2	2.32	2	2	1	4
BW (kg) NegBin (43,0.37221)		45	116	72.53	56	71	54	90

Table 1: Statistical distributions of aflatoxin exposure in students

4.3 Risk Characterization

4.3.1 Margin of Exposure

The observations from this study show that the mean (729), mode, median and 5th percentile MOE values for the carcinogen group was below the threshold limit (10,000) established by the European Food Safety Authority (Table 2) which presents a health concern. However, the 95th percentile value was above the threshold limit. It was again observed that the mean (53,694), median (56,538)

and 95th percentile (141,294) MOE values for the non-carcinogen group also recorded values greater than the threshold limit. This implies a safe health concern. On the other hand the mode (1638) and 5th percentile (908) values were below the threshold limit indicating a health concern for the 5th percentile consumers. Similar results (carcinogen: mean (850) and 95th percentile (90,000) non-carcinogen: mean 11,000 and 95th percentile (150,000) trend were reported by Assunção *et al.* (2018). The carcinogen MOE values obtain from this study was less than results reported by Assunção *et al.* (2018) and threshold limit. The CDI value could be attributed to the difference though same benchmark dose limit (BMDL₁₀) of 870 ng/kg bw/day was used in both studies. The mean MOE values for the non-carcinogen ranged between 7629 and 1, 711,540 (Table 2). The carcinogen group AFB1 recorded the least MOE value which ascertains AFB1 as the most potent carcinogen among the group.

			8	en e	- P
Hazard	Central tendencies			Pe	rcentiles
	Mean	Mode	Median	5th	95 th
		Non-carcinoge	en	Rox.	2
AFG1	7,629	2,050	10,789	1,281	196,376
AFG2	1,711,540	8,796	56,538	6,893	1,053,111
AFB2	53,694	1,638	7,476	908	141,295
		Carcinogen	~~~		
AFB1	792	21.18	7,766.15	0	<mark>264,6</mark> 25

 Table 2: Margin of Exposure for both Carcinogen and Non-carcinogen group

SAPS

Lower MOE value shows a higher probability for aflatoxin concentration to get to or exceed toxicity levels. Observations from this study reveals that students generally presented higher risk of cancer and could be as result of high chronic exposure. Similar studies by Assunção *et al.*

(2018) reported the likely health trepidation may possibly result from the consumption of cereals, especially for high consumers with AFB1 as the focal contributor (87.3%) for the risk (MoE < 10,000).

According to Wild and Turner (2002), in developing or low-income countries, people living in the rural communities mostly consume or have greater levels of aflatoxin exposure compared to the urban settlers since the urban settlers have many options of consuming more varied foods than the rural inhabitants who have quite a limited option and may perhaps have diet that is well regulated for contaminants. Tajkarimi *et al.* (2007) added that a robust cyclical variation exists in the exposure of aflatoxin which relates with the availability of food. But observations from this study show that the respondents are urban dwellers with high cost of living are exposed just as those in the rural areas though the degree may vary (Kilonzo *et al.*, 2014).

4.3.2 Hazard Quotient

Again, observations from the study indicated that the mean, mode, median 5th and 95th percentiles HQ values for the non-carcinogen groups of aflatoxin were way less than the tolerable limit (1) as established by the European Food Safety Authority. (Table 3), which on the contrary demonstrating no health concern.

Hazard	150	Central tendenci	s Percentiles		
	Mean	Mode Non-carcinogen	Median	5th	95 th
AFG1	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.12
AFG2	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.02
AFB2	0.04	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.12

Table 3. Hazard Quotient for Non-carcinogen group

Comparing this observation to the study by Assunção *et al.* (2018) similar results (0.01-0.04) trend was obtained because a reference dose of 5 ng/g (established by European Food Safety Authority) was used in both studies.

4.3.3 Lifetime Risk

The lifetime human cancer risk observed in this study as a result of dietary exposure of AFB1 (tumorigenic) was 0.10 which is greater than estimated by EFSA estimated ranges of 0.004–0.007 and 0.002–0.009 cancer/year per 100,000 habitants. The concentration of hazard, exposure frequency, exposure duration, body weight, mass of food, and averaging time are the key components or elements needed to estimate a hazard. Also risk values from this study were greater than computed estimates in Japan (Sugita-Konishi *et al.*, 2010). The disparity could be due to the concentration level of aflatoxin detected in the food sampled. The rate of implication is proportional to the risk value. Also, it was observed that cancer risk is directly proportional to exposure frequency, exposure duration and aflatoxin concentration (topmost contributor). Mass of food and body weight had a minimal impact on cancer risk (Kleter and Marvin, 2009). From Table 2, aflatoxin concentration and exposure frequency are the highest contributors on the cancer risk of the students' means that students have a greater chance of developing cancer if they are habitually exposed to aflatoxin through food.

Hazard		Central tendencie	Percentiles		
	Mean	Mode Carcinogen	Median	5th	95th
AFB1	0.10	0.10	0.00	0	0.371

Table 4: Life time risk for carcinogen group

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

Aflatoxin was detected in all the kenkey that students consume. The students' chronic dietary exposures to aflatoxin were greater than the tolerable limit (5ng/kg) which consequently put them at risk to cancer and other related health issues that aflatoxin presents. The Hazard Quotient for non-carcinogen group of aflatoxin were below the tolerable limit (1), implying no health concern. The mean, median and 95th percentile consumers margin of exposure were above the threshold (10000) for non-carcinogen group of aflatoxins. There was a health concern of students as the MOE for the carcinogen group was lower than the threshold limit. Students also are at risk of cancer as the risk value was above the estimated range of values.

Government agencies and food manufacturers need to make policies that will help decrease aflatoxin contamination. Thus, programs and actions targeted at lessening in severity of the aflatoxin exposure should be seriously put in place in order to save the lives of students on KNUST campus that are at risk.



Akoto, O., Oppong-Otoo, J. and Osei-Fosu, P. (2015). Carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic risk of organochlorine pesticide residues in processed cereal-based complementary foods for infants and young children in Ghana. *Chemosphere*, *132*, 193-199.

- Abia, W.A., Warth, B., Sulyok, M., Krska, R., Tchana, A.N., Njobeh, P.B., Dutton, M.F. and Moundipa, P.F. (2013). Determination of multi-mycotoxin occurrence in cereals, nuts and their products in Cameroon by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). *Food Control*, 31(2), 438-453.
- Andrade, P. D., de Mello, M. H., França, J. A., and Caldas, E. D. (2013). Aflatoxins in food products consumed in Brazil: a preliminary dietary risk assessment. *Food Additives and Contaminants: Part A*, 30(1), 127-136.
- Andrade, P.D. and Caldas, E. D. (2015). Aflatoxins in cereals: worldwide occurrence and dietary risk assessment. *World Mycotoxin Journal*, 8(4), 415-431.
- AOAC International. (2005). Official Methods of Analysis
- Asenso-Okyere, K., Chiang, C. and Andam, K.S. (2011). Interactions between health and farmlabor productivity. *International Food Policy Research Institute*.
- Assunção, R., Martins, C., Vasco, E., Jager, A., Oliveira, C., Cunha, S.C., Fernandes, J.O., Nunes, B., Loureiro, S. and Alvito, P. (2018). Portuguese children dietary exposure to multiple mycotoxins–An overview of risk assessment under MYCOMIX project. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 118, 399-408.
- Bankole, S., Schollenberger, M. and Drochner, W. (2006). Mycotoxins in food systems in Sub Saharan Africa: A review. *Mycotoxin Research*, 22(3), 163-169.
- Biro, G., Hulshof, K. F. A. M., Ovesen, L., and Cruz, J. A. (2002). Selection of methodology to assess food intake. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56(S2), S25.
- Cano-Sancho, G., Sanchis, V., Marín, S. and Ramos, A.J. (2013). Occurrence and exposure assessment of aflatoxins in Catalonia (Spain). *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *51*, 188193.
- Cardwell, K.F. and Henry, S.H. (2004). Risk of exposure to and mitigation of effect of aflatoxin on human health: A West African example. *Journal of Toxicology: Toxin Reviews*, 23(23), 217-247.
- Chen, B., Mei, J., Kalman, L., Shahangian, S., Williams, I., Gagnon, M., Bosse, D., Ragin, A., Cuthbert, C. and Zehnbauer, B. (2012). Good laboratory practices for biochemical genetic testing and newborn screening for inherited metabolic disorders. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 61(2), 1-44.
- Choy, W.N. (1993). A review of the dose-response induction of DNA adducts by aflatoxin B1 and its implications to quantitative cancer-risk assessment. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Genetic Toxicology*, 296(3), 181-198.
- Chun, O.K. and Kang, H.G. (2003). Estimation of risks of pesticide exposure, by food intake, to Koreans. *Food and chemical Toxicology*, *41*(8), 1063-1076.
- Creppy, E.E. (2002). Update of survey, regulation and toxic effects of mycotoxins in Europe. *Toxicology Letters*, *127*(1-3), 19-28.

- Doll, R. and Peto, R. (1981). The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks of cancer in the United States today. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 66(6), 1192-1308.
- Dougherty, C.P., Holtz, S.H., Reinert, J.C., Panyacosit, L., Axelrad, D.A. and Woodruff, T.J. (2000). Dietary exposures to food contaminants across the United States. *Environmental Research*, 84(2), 170-185.
- EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW). (2013). Scientific Opinion on Review of the European Union Summary Report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food_borne outbreaks_ Terms of reference 2 to 7. *EFSA Journal*, *11*(1), 3074.
- El–Serag, H.B. and Rudolph, K.L. (2007). Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, *132*(7), 2557-2576.
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). (2015). Principles and process for dealing with data and evidence in scientific assessments. *EFSA Journal*, *13*(6), 4121.
- Gong, Y., Hounsa, A., Egal, S., Turner, P.C., Sutcliffe, A.E., Hall, A.J., Cardwell, K. and Wild, C.P. (2004). Postweaning exposure to aflatoxin results in impaired child growth: a longitudinal study in Benin, West Africa. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 112(13), 1334.
- Gong, Y.Y., Turner, P.C., Hall, A.J. and Wild, C.P. (2008). Aflatoxin exposure and impaired child growth in West Africa: an unexplored international public health burden. *Mycotoxins Detection Methods, Management, Public Health and Agricultural Trade*, 53-66.
- Goto, T., Wicklow, D.T. and Ito, Y. (1996). Aflatoxin and cyclopiazonic acid production by a sclerotium-producing Aspergillus tamarii strain. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 62(11), 4036-4038.
- Groopman, J.D., Donahue, P.R., Zhu, J.Q., Chen, J.S. and Wogan, G.N. (1985). Aflatoxin metabolism in humans: detection of metabolites and nucleic acid adducts in urine by affinity chromatography. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 82(19), 6492-6496.
- Hedberg, C.W., Smith, S.J., Kirkland, E., Radke, V., Jones, T.F., Selman, C.A. (2006). Systematic environmental evaluations to identify food safety differences between outbreak and nonoutbreak restaurants. *Journal of Food Protection*, 69(11), 2697-2702.
- Hell, K., Cardwell, K.F., Setamou, M. and Poehling, H.M. (2000). The influence of storage practices on aflatoxin contamination in maize in four agroecological zones of Benin, West Africa. *Journal of Stored Products Research*, *36*(4), 365-382.
- Hill, R.A., Wilson, D.M., McMillian, W.W., Widstrom, N.W., Cole, R.J., Sanders, T.H. and Blankenship, P.D. (1985). Ecology of the Aspergillus flavus group and aflatoxin formation in maize and groundnut. *Trichothecenes and other Mycotoxins*, 8, 79-95.

- IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, World Health Organization, and International Agency for Research on Cancer. (2002). *Some Traditional Herbal Medicines, Some Mycotoxins, Naphthalene and Styrene*, 82.
- IARC. (2012). Hepatitis viruses, Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. *IARC Science Publication*, 59.
- JECFA, (1998). Aflatoxins. Safety evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. (The forty-ninth meeting of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives). WHO Food Additives, 359–468.
- Jemal, A., Center, M.M., DeSantis, C. and Ward, E.M. (2010). Global patterns of cancer incidence and mortality rates and trends. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers*, 1055-9965.
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. Meeting and World Health Organization, 2006. *Safety Evaluation of Certain Food Additives* (No. 56).
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. Meeting, Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, and World Health Organization. (2002). Evaluation of certain mycotoxins in food: *Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives* (Vol. 56).
- Kensler, T.W., Groopman, J.D., Sutter, T.R., Curphey, T.J. and Roebuck, B.D. (1999). Development of cancer chemopreventive agents: oltipraz as a paradigm. *Chemical research in toxicology*, *12*(2), 113-126.
- Khlangwiset, P., Shephard, G.S. and Wu, F. (2011). Aflatoxins and growth impairment: a review. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, 41(9), 740-755.
- Kilonzo, R.M., Imungi, J.K., Muiru, W.M., Lamuka, P.O. and Njage, P.M.K. (2014). Household dietary exposure to aflatoxins from maize and maize products in Kenya. *Food Additives* and Contaminants: Part A, 31(12), 2055-2062.
- Kimanya, M. E., Shirima, C. P., Magoha, H., Shewiyo, D. H., De Meulenaer, B., Kolsteren, P., and Gong, Y. Y. (2014). Co-exposures of aflatoxins with deoxynivalenol and fumonisins from maize based complementary foods in Rombo, Northern Tanzania. *Food Control*, 41, 76-81.
- Kimanya, M.E., Shirima, C.P., Magoha, H., Shewiyo, D.H., De Meulenaer, B., Kolsteren, P. and Gong, Y.Y. (2014). Co-exposures of aflatoxins with deoxynivalenol and fumonisins from maize based complementary foods in Rombo, Northern Tanzania. *Food Control*, 41, 7681.
- Kleter, G. A., and Marvin, H. J. (2009). Indicators of emerging hazards and risks to food safety. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 47(5), 1022-1039.
- Landrigan, P.J., Sonawane, B., Butler, R.N., Trasande, L., Callan, R. and Droller, D. (2005). Early environmental origins of neurodegenerative disease in later life. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *113*(9), 1230.

- Liu, Y. and Wu, F. (2010). Global burden of aflatoxin-induced hepatocellular carcinoma: a risk assessment. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *118*(6), 818.
- Mannaa, F.A., Abdel-Wahhab, K.G. and Abdel-Wahhab, M.A. (2014). Prevention of cardiotoxicity of aflatoxin B1 via dietary supplementation of papaya fruit extracts in rats. *Cytotechnology*, 66(2), 327-334.
- Marin, S., Ramos, A.J., Cano-Sancho, G. and Sanchis, V. (2013). Mycotoxins: Occurrence, toxicology, and exposure assessment. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 60, 218-237.
- Merten, C., Ferrari, P., Bakker, M., Boss, A., Hearty, A., Leclercq, C. and Arcella, D. (2011).
 Methodological characteristics of the national dietary surveys carried out in the European Union as included in the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) Comprehensive European Food Consumption Database. *Food Additives and Contaminants: Part A*, 28(8), 975-995.
- Miller, D. (1995). Consumption as the Vanguard of History. Acknowledging Consumption, 1-57.
- Moss, M.O. (2002). Risk assessment for aflatoxins in foodstuffs. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation, 50(3-4), 137-142.
- Murphy, P.A., Hendrich, S., Landgren, C. and Bryant, C.M. (2006). Food mycotoxins: an update. *Journal of Food Science*, 71(5), 51-65.
- Osei-Tutu, B. and Anto, F. (2016). Trends of reported foodborne diseases at the Ridge Hospital, Accra, Ghana: a retrospective review of routine data from 2009-2013. *Infectious Diseases*, *16*(1), 139.
- Otsuki, D.L. and Stoloff, L. (1989). Aflatoxin control—How a regulatory agency managed risk from an unavoidable natural toxicant in food and feed. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 9(2), 109-130.
- Park, D.L. and Stoloff, L. (1989). Aflatoxin control—How a regulatory agency managed risk from an unavoidable natural toxicant in food and feed. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 9(2), 109-130.
- Peduzzi, P., Dao, H., Herold, C. and Mouton, F. (2009). Assessing global exposure and vulnerability towards natural hazards: The Disaster Risk Index. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 9(4), 1149-1159.
- Piekkola, S., Turner, P.C., Abdel-Hamid, M., Ezzat, S., El-Daly, M., El-Kafrawy, S., Savchenko, E., Poussa, T., Woo, J.C.S., Mykkänen, H. and El-Nezami, H. (2012). Characterisation of aflatoxin and deoxynivalenol exposure among pregnant Egyptian women. *Food Additives* and Contaminants: 29(6), 962-971.
- Qian, G.S., Ross, R.K., Yu, M.C., Yuan, J.M., Gao, Y.T., Henderson, B.E., Wogan, G.N. and Groopman, J.D. (1994). A follow-up study of urinary markers of aflatoxin exposure and liver cancer risk in Shanghai, People's Republic of China. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers*, 3(1), 3-10.

- Riba, A., Bouras, N., Mokrane, S., Mathieu, F., Lebrihi, A. and Sabaou, N. (2010). Aspergillus section Flavi and aflatoxins in Algerian wheat and derived products. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 48(10), 2772-2777.
- Shephard, G. S. (2003). Aflatoxin and food safety: recent African perspectives. *Journal of Toxicology: Toxin Reviews*, 22(2-3), 267-286.
- Shephard, G.S. (2008). Risk assessment of aflatoxins in food in Africa. *Food Additives and Contaminants*, 25(10), 1246-1256.
- Sirhan, A.Y., Tan, G.H., Al-Shunnaq, A., Abdulra'uf, L. and Wong, R.C. (2014). QuEChERSHPLC method for aflatoxin detection of domestic and imported food in Jordan. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies*, 37(3), 321-342.
- Soriano, J.M. and Dragacci, S. (2004). Occurrence of fumonisins in foods. *Food Research International*, *37*(10), 985-1000.
- Speijers, G.J.A. and Speijers, M.H.M. (2004). Combined toxic effects of mycotoxins. *Toxicology Letters*, *153*(1), 91-98.
- Spink, J. and Moyer, D.C. (2011). Defining the public health threat of food fraud. *Journal of Food Science*, *76*(9), 157-163.
- Syberg, K., Elleby, A., Pedersen, H., Cedergreen, N. and Forbes, V.E. (2008). Mixture toxicity of three toxicants with similar and dissimilar modes of action to Daphnia magna. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 69(3), 428-436.
- Tajkarimi, M., Aliabadi, F.S., Nejad, M.S., Pursoltani, H., Motallebi, A.A. and Mahdavi, H., (2007). Seasonal study of aflatoxin M1 contamination in milk in five regions in Iran. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 116(3), 346-349.
- Turner, P.C., Collinson, A.C., Cheung, Y.B., Gong, Y., Hall, A.J., Prentice, A.M. and Wild, C.P., (2007). Aflatoxin exposure in utero causes growth faltering in Gambian infants. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 36(5), 1119-1125.
- Van Egmond, H. P., Schothorst, R. C., and Jonker, M. A. (2007). Regulations relating to mycotoxins in food. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 389(1), 147-157.
- Van Egmond, H.P., (2002). Worldwide regulations for mycotoxins. In *Mycotoxins and Food Safety* 257-269.
- Wagacha, J.M. and Muthomi, J.W. (2008). Mycotoxin problem in Africa: current status, implications to food safety and health and possible management strategies. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *124*(1), 1-12.
- Wild, C. P., and Turner, P. C. (2002). The toxicology of aflatoxins as a basis for public health decisions. *Mutagenesis*, *17*(6), 471-481.
- Wild, C.P. and Gong, Y. (2009). Mycotoxins and human disease: a largely ignored global health issue. *Carcinogenesis*, *31*(1), 71-82.

- Williams, J. H., Phillips, T. D., Jolly, P. E., Stiles, J. K., Jolly, C. M., and Aggarwal, D. (2004). Human aflatoxicosis in developing countries: a review of toxicology, exposure, potential health consequences, and interventions. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 80(5), 1106-1122.
- Wilkinson, C.F., Christoph, G.R., Julien, E., Kelley, J.M., Kronenberg, J., McCarthy, J. and Reiss, R. (2000). Assessing the risks of exposures to multiple chemicals with a common mechanism of toxicity: how to cumulate? *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 31(1), 30-43.
- World Health Organization, (2015). Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERSCoV): Summary of Current Situation, Literature Update and Risk Assessment.
- Wu, F. (2004). *Mycotoxin Risk Assessment for the Purpose of Setting International Regulatory Standards.*
- Wu, F., Miller, J.D. and Casman, E.A. (2004). The economic impact of corn resulting from mycotoxin reduction. *Journal of Toxicology: Toxin Reviews*, 23(2-3), 397-424.
- Yaman, T., Yener, Z. and Celik, I. (2016). Histopathological and biochemical investigations of protective role of honey in rats with experimental aflatoxicosis. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 16(1), 232.



APPENDIX

APPENDIX 1: FOOD DIETARY QUESTIONNAIRES

DIETARY QUESTIONNAIRE QUESTIONS ON CEREAL PRODUCTS YOU USUALLY EAT

INSTRUCTIONS:

This questionnaire is about your cereal products eating habits over the past 2 months. Give only 1 answer for each question.

BIODA TA								
Gender Occupation		Age	-	Weight				
		5	(Yrs.)	El	(Kg)		7	
Μ	0	Student O	0	0	0	0	0	
F	0		1	1	1	1	1	
			2	2	2	2	2	
			3	3	3	3	3	
		7	4	4	4	4	4	
		R	5	5	5	5	5	
		5AD	6	6	6	6	6	
		2	7	7	7	7	7	
			9	95	SIE NS	8	8	
					9	9	9	

A. BREAKFAST

 \bigcirc

H-A

- 1. What type of food do you usually eat for breakfast?
 - O a) I don't eat breakfast
 - O b) Tom brown and bread
 - C) Porridge and bread/ koose
 - d) Banku and fish/meat
 - e) Kenkey and fish
- 2. How much do you usually eat (GH¢)?





4. For how long (years) have you been eating this food?



<u>B. LUNCH</u>



2.0 How much do you usually eat (GH¢)?



3. How many times do you consume this lunch in a week?



4. For how long (years) have you been eating this food?



C. SUPPER

0

 \bigcirc

Ο

С

1. What type of food do you usually eat for supper?

- h) I don't eat lunch
 - i) Rice and fish/meat
 - j) Kenkey and fish
 - k) Abitie and fish/meat
 - l) Banku and fish/meat
- m) Fufu and fish/meat

NO

BADHS

n) Pito

ST Ο 1. 1.00 2. 1.50 \bigcirc 3. 2.00 С 4. 2.50 Ο

3.00

3.50

4.00

2. How much do you usually eat (GH¢)?

5.

6.

7.

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

-) 4.50 8. \bigcirc 9. 5.00
- 3. How many times do you consume this supper in a week?
 - O k) Once 0 I) Twice 0 m) Thrice 0 n) Four times Ο o) Everyday
- 4. For how long (years) have you been eating this food?
 - 0 NO 2. SANE 3. 1 4. 2 5. 3

